

# FARM ANIMAL CLONING

A Compassion in World Farming Report - 2010





Registered Charity No. 1095050

### CONTENTS

		P	AGE
EX	ECUTIVE SUMMARY		05
1.	INTRODUCTION		09
2.	OVERVIEW OF FARM ANIMAL BREEDING	09	
	2.1 Dairy cattle		12
	2.2Beef cattle		14
	2.3Pigs		15
	2.4Broiler (meat) chickens		16
	2.5Turkeys		18
	2.6Egg-laying hens		18
3.	OVERVIEW OF FARM ANIMAL CLONING	20	
4.	CURRENT STATUS & POTENTIAL FUTURE APPLICATIONS OF FARM ANIMAL CLONING		24
	4.1 Replication of elite breeding animals		24
	4.2 Production of transgenic animals		25
5.	IMPACT OF CLONING ON THE WELFARE OF FARM ANIMALS	26	
	5.1 Welfare of clones		26
	5.2Welfare of surrogate dams		29
	5.3Welfare of clone offspring		29
6.	THREAT TO LIVESTOCK GENETIC DIVERSITY FROM FARM ANIMAL CLONING		31
7.	SAFETY OF FOOD FROM CLONED ANIMALS AND THEIR OFFSPRING		33
8.	PUBLIC OPINION ON THE CLONING OF ANIMALS FOR FOOD		35
9.	CAN THE CLONING OF ANIMALS FOR FOOD BE JUSTIFIED?		37

10.	REGULATORY STATUS OF ANIMAL CLONING	38
	FOR FOOD IN THE EU	
11.	CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS	40
REFERENCES		
GLOSSARY		

### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Cloning of farm animals for food production has become an increasingly controversial topic of debate, especially within the context of responsibilities to the welfare of farm animals enshrined in European legislation and the growing global demand for meat and dairy production.

This report examines the consequences of cloning for farm animal welfare, highlights key advice on the issue from scientific and ethical advisory bodies and makes recommendations regarding the future of farm animal cloning.

#### Background

Human beings have been altering the characteristics of farm animals through selective breeding since the beginning of domestication thousands of years ago. In recent decades, selective breeding has been aided by a number of assisted reproductive technologies such as artificial insemination and embryo transfer. Within the globalised animal breeding industry, a small number of large multinational companies control the vast majority of livestock and poultry breeding. Increasingly, specialised breeds have been developed that produce very high yields of a single commodity (such as meat, milk or eggs). The drive to increase productivity has, in many cases, had serious consequences for the health and welfare of the animals.

#### Farm animal cloning

Cloning presents severe welfare challenges arising directly from its use and also through exacerbation of the problems caused by selective breeding. Many species have been cloned since Dolly the sheep, the first mammal to be cloned from an adult cell, was born in 1996. There are now estimated to be around 6000 farm animal clones worldwide.

Cloning by somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) is fundamentally different from other established assisted reproductive technologies in that it goes beyond assisting in bringing together the egg and sperm and instead bypasses the requirement for fertilization. SCNT produces animals that are genetically unlike any animal found in nature.

Cloning technology is already being used commercially in some parts of the world for the replication of elite breeding animals, mostly cattle, which are used to produce animals farmed for food production.

#### Impact of cloning on the welfare of farm animals

Cloning has very serious consequences for animal welfare. The large majority of cloned embryos fail to develop to term and, for those that do, a significant proportion of the animals die during or shortly after birth or at various times over the following days and weeks of life. In its 2008 Opinion on Animal Cloning, the EFSA Scientific Committee, which advises the European Commission, concludes:

#### "The health and welfare of a significant proportion of clones, mainly within the juvenile period for bovines and perinatal period for pigs, have been found to be adversely affected, often severely and with a fatal outcome."

The welfare of animals used as surrogate dams is also adversely affected because of the high rates of pregnancy failure, birthing difficulties and Caesarean section. Although the offspring of the clones that do survive do not appear to suffer any obvious abnormal effects, the use of cloning to replicate elite high-yielding animals for breeding is likely to accelerate the spread of livestock genetics associated with poor welfare, leading to greater suffering from health and welfare problems connected with fast growth and high yields.

#### Threat to livestock genetic diversity from farm animal cloning

The world's livestock diversity is currently shrinking, with rapid and uncontrolled loss of unique and often uncharacterised animal genetic resources. The global spread of a small number of specialised breeds has been facilitated by the development of artificial reproductive technologies, particularly artificial insemination. Some suggest that cloning technology could be used to replicate individuals of rare and endangered livestock breeds, which could help to preserve genetic diversity. However, the commercial use of cloning to replicate elite breeding animals is likely to further contribute to the erosion of livestock genetic diversity.

Reduced genetic diversity increases the susceptibility of livestock populations to diseases and other risk factors. This raises the possibility of large numbers of animals succumbing to diseases to which they are susceptible, with potentially serious animal welfare, social and economic consequences.

#### Food safety and consumer concerns

Risk assessments carried out by the European Food Safety Authority and the US Food and Drug Administration suggest that products from cloned animals and their offspring are unlikely to carry increased food safety risks compared with conventional food products. However, there are limited data available and further studies, including long-term trials, are warranted to rule out any potential food safety issues from the consumption of products from cloned animals and their offspring.

The majority of EU citizens are opposed to animal cloning for food production purposes and state that they would be unlikely to buy products from cloned animals or their offspring, even if they are shown to be safe. If food products from the offspring of cloned animals were to become available, the vast majority of EU citizens believe that special labelling should be required. It is essential that the freedom and rights of consumers to choose to avoid products from cloned animals and their offspring are respected.

A number of farmers' groups have expressed concern at the threat to the image of the EU livestock industry if products from cloned animals or their offspring are permitted to enter the food chain, potentially leading to a loss of consumer confidence and associated economic consequences.

#### Expert opinion and regulation of farm animal cloning

The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE), which advises the European Commission, concludes:

"Considering the current level of suffering and health problems of surrogate dams and animal clones, the EGE has doubts as to whether cloning animals for food supply is ethically justified... At present, the EGE does not see convincing arguments to justify the production of food from clones and their offspring."

On 3 September 2008, the European Parliament adopted a resolution calling for a ban on:

- The cloning of animals for food supply purposes;
- The farming of cloned animals or their offspring;
- The placing on the market of meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring;
- The importing of cloned animals, their offspring, semen and embryos from cloned animals or their offspring, and meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring.

The main concerns cited by the Parliament are threats to animal welfare, genetic diversity, consumer confidence and the image and substance of the European agricultural model.

At present, there is no specific EU legislation governing animal cloning, although various pieces of existing legislation will apply to cloned animals and food products from cloned animals under specific circumstances. Council Directive 98/58/EC states:

#### "Natural or artificial breeding or breeding procedures which case [sic] or are likely to cause suffering or injury to any of the animals concerned must not be practised."

Compassion in World Farming believes that, if the EU were to allow the cloning of animals for food production, this would be in contravention both of Council Directive 98/58/EC and of the Lisbon Treaty, which requires the EU to "*pay full regard to the welfare requirements of animals*" when formulating and implementing EU policies.

There is an urgent need for the development and introduction of specific EU legislation to govern animal cloning and food products from clones and their offspring.

#### **Recommendations on Farm Animal Cloning**

Compassion in World Farming calls on the European Union to follow the Parliament's wishes and implement: 1) a complete ban on the cloning of animals for food production purposes and the farming of cloned animals or their offspring; 2) a complete ban on the placing on the market of meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring; and 3) an embargo on imports of cloned animals and their offspring, semen and embryos from cloned animals or their offspring and meat and dairy products derived from such animals.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Since 1997, animals are legally recognised as sentient beings in the European Union and it is a legal requirement for the EU and its Member States to "*pay full regard to the welfare requirements of animals*" when formulating and implementing EU policies on agriculture and research. The Lisbon Treaty, which came into force on 1 December 2009, extends this commitment to cover policies in other areas, including fisheries and technological development.

With this in mind, this report will examine the current status, potential uses and welfare consequences of the cloning of farm animals, as well as related biodiversity, food safety and economic concerns, and will seek to answer the question whether animal cloning for food production can be justified.

### 2. OVERVIEW OF FARM ANIMAL BREEDING

Human beings have been altering the characteristics of farm animals through selective breeding since the beginning of domestication thousands of years ago. Selective breeding is the process of identifying individuals with particular characteristics and breeding from those animals in order to perpetuate these traits. The primary objective of farm animal breeding has been to increase the yield of meat, milk, eggs, wool or other commodities useful to humans.

In the past it was only possible to make changes relatively slowly using traditional selective breeding methods. In recent decades, selective breeding has been aided by a number of assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs).

The first and most widely used ART is artificial insemination (AI). This involves collecting semen from valuable male animals and using it to impregnate females without the need for the male to be present, hugely increasing the number of offspring that can be sired by an individual male. AI has been used since the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century and has revolutionised the animal breeding industry, particularly for cattle (Basrur and King, 2005). The development of methods for freezing semen has allowed it to be marketed globally. In recent years, sexed semen has become commercially available. This makes it possible to select the sex of the offspring by using semen which has been processed to separate those

sperm carrying the X (female-producing) chromosome from those carrying the Y (maleproducing) chromosome.

By the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century, AI was used for the insemination of around 110 million cattle, 40 million pigs, 7 million sheep and 0.5 million goats annually (Thibier *et al*, 2004). In cattle, this accounts for 20% of the total global population of breeding females (ranging from more than 60% in Europe to less than 2% in Africa), with dairy breeds accounting for three quarters of the total inseminations (*Ibid*.). In pigs the proportion of sows inseminated artificially in the major pig–producing countries ranges from 85% in the Netherlands and Spain to 10% in Brazil (*Ibid*.)

Embryo transfer is used to increase the number of offspring that can be obtained from valuable female animals and is mostly used in cattle. Embryos for transfer can be produced *in vivo* (inside the body) or *in vitro* (in the laboratory). *In vivo* embryo production using a technique known as MOET (multiple ovulation and embryo transfer) is used for the production of 80% of embryos for commercial purposes worldwide (Schmidt, 2007). Hormones are administered to the donor cow to stimulate the production of multiple eggs (superovulation). The cow is then inseminated and, a week later, the developing embryos are flushed from the uterus. Alternatively, embryos can be produced *in vitro* from immature eggs removed from the ovaries of the donor cow using a procedure known as ovum pick–up (OPU). These eggs are matured and fertilized in the laboratory. The developing embryo is then inserted into the uterus of a surrogate cow for gestation.

The procedures for removing the eggs or embryos from the donor cow and transferring the embryos to the recipient cows are invasive, generally requiring epidural anaesthesia. Cows may be subjected to repeated cycles of MOET or OPU. There is a risk of pain and infection at the epidural injection site, which may extend to the bone and other tissues (McEvoy *et al*, 2006). Arthritis associated with reduced mobility of the vertebrae around the injection site can also occur (*Ibid*.). In other animals, such as pigs and sheep, embryo transfer is usually a surgical procedure, with an incision made in the abdominal cavity to carry out the procedures.



© Photo courtesy G. Seidel Flushing of eggs for the production of embryos for transfer to surrogate cows is an invasive procedure, generally requiring epidural anaesthesia.

The transfer of over 600 000 *in vivo*-derived cattle embryos from more than 130 000 donor cows was recorded by the International Embryo Transfer Society in 2005, and the actual number transferred globally is estimated to be closer to 1 million embryos (Thibier, 2006). The greatest number of *in vivo*-derived cattle embryo transfers took place in North America, accounting for 45% of the global total, followed by South America (20.5%), Asia (19%) and Europe (14%). In addition, the transfer of over 250 000 *in vitro*-produced cattle embryos was also recorded, mostly in South America (close to 50%), in particular Brazil, and Asia (47%), particularly Korea and China (*Ibid.*). 30 000 pig embryos, 25 000 sheep embryos, 7000 goat embryos and 300 deer embryos were also transferred in 2005 (*Ibid.*).

In Europe in 2008, around 100 000 cattle embryos were transferred (94.5% of which were *in vivo*-derived embryos) (Merton, 2009). In addition, 375 sheep embryos, 75 goat embryos and 28 pig embryos were transferred (*Ibid.*).

Today, farm animal breeding is a globalised industry, with a small number of large multinational companies controlling the vast majority of livestock and poultry breeding across the world. For example, over 90% of world chicken meat production originates from birds produced by just two breeding companies (Cobb-Vantress, 2010; Avigen, 2010), whilst around 50% of world egg production comes from the hens bred by a single company (ISA, 2010). The largest cattle genetics company in the world disseminates around 13 million doses of semen each year from studs in North and South America, Europe and Australia (Genus, 2010a). More than 100 million slaughter pigs each year contain genetics from the breeding sows, boars and semen produced by the largest pig breeding company in the world (Genus, 2010b).

Selective breeding, aided by assisted reproductive technologies, has led to the development of increasingly specialised breeds that produce very high yields of a single commodity (such as meat, milk or eggs). Breeding companies continue to pursue "genetic gains" in areas such as growth rate, feed conversion efficiency (the amount of feed required for a given quantity of weight gain), age of sexual maturity, number of offspring, yield and quality of meat, milk or eggs. This drive to increase productivity has in many cases had serious consequences for the health and welfare of the animals. Where cloning is used to perpetuate the breeding of farm animals which have been strongly selected for productivity traits (see section 4.1), it has the potential to exacerbate existing welfare problems arising from selective breeding. The impact of selective breeding on some of the major farmed species is summarised in the next sections.

#### 2.1 Dairy cattle

Selective breeding of dairy cattle has led to a dramatic increase in milk yield over recent decades. Milk production per cow has more than doubled in the past 40 years and this increase in yield has been accompanied by declining ability to reproduce, increasing incidence of health problems, and declining longevity in modern dairy cows (Oltenacu and Algers, 2005).

The genetic component underlying milk yield has been found to be positively correlated with the incidence of lameness, mastitis (inflammation of the udder), reproductive disorders and metabolic disorders (AHAW, 2009).

High-yielding dairy cows are generally in negative energy balance in early lactation and mobilise body reserves for milk production (Butler and Smith, 1989). Loss of body condition score is greater and more prolonged for higher yielding cows (Gallo *et al*, 1989). Metabolic or production diseases are a manifestation of the cow's inability to cope with the metabolic demands of high production (Mulligan and Doherty, 2008).



Selection for increased milk yield has led to an increased incidence of a number of serious health problems in modern dairy cows, including reproductive failure, a significant problem for the modern dairy industry.

There is a large body of evidence linking selection for increased milk yield with infertility (Webster, 2000). Higher milk yield is genetically correlated with longer calving interval, increased days to first service and reduced conception at first service (Pryce *et al*, 1997 & 1998). Infertility is the biggest cause of culling in dairy cows (Esslemont and Kossaibati, 1997; Whitaker *et al*, 2000).

The incidence of lameness in dairy cows has increased greatly in recent decades. For example, a farmer-based national survey of lameness in the UK in 1957/58 found an annual incidence of 4% (Leech *et al*, 1960); surveys since the 1990s have reported mean annual incidences ranging from above 20% to over 50% (Clarkson *et al*, 1996; Whitaker *et al*, 2000; Esslemont and Kossaibati, 2002).

A number of studies since the 1990s report a mean annual incidence of mastitis ranging from above 30 to over 70 cases per 100 cows (Esslemont and Kossaibati, 1996; Kossaibati *et al*, 1998; Esslemont and Kossaibati, 2002, Bradley *et al*, 2007).

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) Panel on Animal Health and Welfare, which advises the European Commission, concludes (AHAW, 2009):

# "Long term genetic selection for high milk yield is the major factor causing poor welfare, in particular health problems, in dairy cows."

Another consequence of breeding for specialised milk breeds is that the male calves are often not considered suitable for beef production and may be killed at birth.

#### 2.2 Beef cattle

Beef cattle have been selectively bred for large muscles (large meat yield). This has resulted in a greater incidence of leg disorders and calving problems. Some breeds have a "double– muscling" gene which causes them to have grossly oversized muscles. Animals may carry one copy (heterozygous) or two copies (homozygous) of the double–muscling gene. Calving is particularly difficult for those animals with two copies of the gene and calves often have to be delivered by Caesarean section (SCAHAW, 2001). These animals are also more susceptible to stress (*Ibid*.).

The EU Scientific Panel on Animal Health and Animal Welfare concludes (SCAHAW, 2001):

"Beef breeds have been selected for a high meat production. These breeds are often associated with a hypermuscularity which can cause leg disorders, increase calving difficulties and decrease cow longevity... Among hypermuscular animals, the homozygous carriers of myotrophin defective gene, or double-muscled animals, need much more care due to their higher susceptibility to stress. A high proportion of caesareans are carried out in these animals... Homozygous double-muscled animals have a wide range of problems and should not be used in beef production. The use of heterozygous animals bearing the double-muscling gene would still entail welfare problems in the stock of parental homozygous animals."



Belgian Blue cattle carry the "double-muscling" gene which is associated with an increased incidence of leg disorders and calving difficulties and increased susceptibility to stress.

#### 2.3 Pigs

Pigs are bred for fast growth, efficient feed conversion and high levels of lean meat in the carcass. This has lead to serious health problems, including leg disorders and cardiovascular problems.

The incidence of leg weakness, particularly osteochondrosis, is genetically correlated with both growth rate and leanness (Rauw *et al*, 1998; AHAW, 2007a).

Modern pigs have a reduced ability to exercise and to cope with stressful situations without having cardiovascular problems (AHAW, 2007a).

The EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare, which advises the European Commission, concludes (AHAW, 2007b):

"The genetic selection of pigs for rapid growth and lean meat without enough consideration of other factors has lead to some widespread and serious problems, in particular leg disorders, cardiovascular malfunction when high levels of activity are needed or stressful conditions are encountered, and inadequate maternal behaviour." Pigs are also bred for increased litter size. Larger litter size is associated with lower piglet birth weight and higher piglet mortality (Weber *et al*, 2007; AHAW, 2007c). Competition for access to teats is increased in larger litters (AHAW, 2007c) leading to a greater risk of injuries to the piglets and to the sow's teats. Piglets are often subjected to tooth clipping to reduce the risk of injuries. Tooth clipping causes acute pain and distress (Noonan *et al*, 1994; Rand *et al*, 2002) and can also result in chronic pain (Hay *et al*, 2004; Prunier *et al*, 2002). The number of piglets in a litter may exceed the number of functioning teats, necessitating the use of "cross-fostering", where some of the piglets are moved to other litters or to sows whose piglets have recently been weaned, which can raise further welfare issues for both the sow and the piglets (AHAW, 2007c). The EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW, 2007d) recommends that genetic selection for litter size should not aim at exceeding 12 piglets born alive per litter.

#### 2.4 Broiler (meat) chickens

Broiler (meat) chickens are bred for fast growth, efficient feed conversion and large breast meat yield. Modern commercial broilers reach a slaughter weight of 2- 2.5kg in 35-40 days (Cobb Vantress, 2008; Aviagen, 2007) compared with 12 weeks 30 years ago (Broom, 2009). This has resulted in serious health problems, including lameness and cardiovascular disorders.



Painful lameness is common in fast-growing broiler chickens.

Fast-growing broiler chickens suffer from a number of cardiovascular disorders that can cause sudden death and are responsible for a major portion of flock mortality (Julian, 2005).

Leg disorders are a major cause of pain and poor welfare in broiler chickens. Lame birds will self-select feed containing the anti-inflammatory drug carprofen (Danbury *et al*, 2000). Danbury *et al* concluded that birds with a gait score of 3 or above consumed more carprofen, indicating that they are in pain. A re-analysis of the data from this study suggests that all birds with a gait score of 1 or above had significantly higher carprofen intakes (Webster, 2005). Webster concludes that *"all lameness hurts"*.

A large-scale study into leg disorders in broilers (Knowles *et al*, 2008) found that on average 97.8% of chickens showed some degree of gait abnormality (gait score 1 or higher) and 27.6% had a gait score of 3 or higher. Given the conclusions of Danbury *et al* (2000) and Webster (2005) above, this suggests that at least more than a quarter, and probably the vast majority, of commercially reared fast-growing broilers are likely to experience pain as a result of lameness. Knowles *et al* (2008) conclude:

#### "[T]he primary risk factors associated with impaired locomotion and poor leg health are those specifically associated with rate of growth."

Another consequence of breeding for fast growth rate is that the birds kept for breeding are subjected to severe feed restriction in order to reduce mortality and health problems associated with excessive weight gain, causing them to be "*chronically hungry, frustrated and stressed*" (Savory *et al*, 1993).

The EU Scientific Committee on Animal Health and Animal Welfare concludes (SCAHAW, 2000):

"It is clear that the major welfare problems in broilers are those which can be regarded as side effects of the intense selection mainly for growth and feed conversion. These include leg disorders, ascites, sudden death syndrome in growing birds and welfare problems in breeding birds such as severe food restriction. It is apparent that the fast growth rate of current broiler strains is not accompanied by a satisfactory level of welfare including health".

#### 2.5 Turkeys

Turkeys are also bred for fast growth, efficient feed conversion and large breast meat yield and suffer from similar problems to broiler chickens.

Like broiler chickens, turkeys suffer from a number of cardiovascular disorders that can cause sudden death and are responsible for a major portion of flock mortality (Julian, 2005).

Lameness is a serious welfare issue in growing turkeys (*Ibid.*) and painful degeneration of the hips and other joints is common in male breeding turkeys (Duncan *et al*, 1991).

Male turkeys are now too heavy and broad-breasted to mate naturally without risking injury to the female. Artificial insemination is therefore standard practice. The 1995 report of the Banner Committee on the ethical implications of emerging technologies in the breeding of farm animals concluded:

#### "The breeding of birds who are physically incapable of engaging in behaviour which is natural to them is fundamentally objectionable".

As with broiler chickens, breeding turkeys are subjected to severe feed restriction in order to reduce mortality and health problems.

#### 2.6 Egg-laying hens

Laying hens have been selectively bred to produce very high numbers of eggs – a typical commercial hen now lays around 300 eggs in a year (Defra *et al*, 2008). Genetic selection of commercial layers for increased egg production has resulted in much weaker bones compared with traditional breeds (Budgell and Silversides, 2004). This is because egg shell quality is maintained in genetically selected lines at the expense of bone strength and density (Hocking *et al* 2003).

The lack of opportunity for exercise in cage systems further contributes to weakened bones and caged hens may develop "caged layer osteoporosis" (also known as "caged layer fatigue"). Osteoporosis accounts for 30 to 35% of deaths in caged laying hens and many of these deaths will be lingering and likely to involve emaciation and pain (McCoy *et al*, 1996; Webster, 2004). The affected bird becomes paralysed and, if the condition goes unnoticed, the hen often dies a slow death at the back of the cage from dehydration and starvation because they are unable to reach water and food (Abdul–Aziz, 1998). By the time they come to be slaughtered, the birds' bones have become so weak that many hens suffer broken bones during removal from the cages, transport and slaughter (Gregory & Wilkins, 1989; Gregory *et al*, 1990).



Bone fractures are a major welfare problem in laying hens selected for increased egg production.

Even in non-cage systems, where bone strength is improved by the greater opportunities for exercise, many birds have old healed fractures by the end of lay. Recent data suggests that the problem of bone fractures is getting worse, with various studies from cages, floor housing, aviary and free-range systems reporting incidences ranging from 50% to almost 90% (Friere *et al*, 2003; Wilkins *et al*, 2004; Rodenburg *et al*, 2006).

Another consequence of breeding for specialised egg-laying strains is that the male chicks are not commercially useful. The males do not lay eggs and only fast-growing, heavymuscled chickens are considered suitable for meat production. As a result, the chicks are sexed at hatching and the males are killed.

### **3 OVERVIEW OF FARM ANIMAL CLONING**

The first mammal cloned from an adult cell was Dolly the sheep in 1996 (Wilmut *et al*, 1997). The process that created Dolly is called somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT). Since then, many other species have been cloned (Figure 3.1). Today, there are estimated to be around 6000 farm animal clones worldwide (Plume, 2009).



Dolly, the first mammal to be cloned from an adult cell, was born at the Roslin Institute in 1996. She was euthanised in 2003 because she was suffering from a progressive lung disease. She had also been suffering from arthritis for over a year before she died. Both of these conditions are unusual in a sheep of her age and may have been a result of cloning.

FIGURE 3.1: TIMELINE OF DOMESTIC SPECIES CLONED.

```
1996 - Dolly the sheep - first mammal cloned from an adult cell (Wilmut et al, 1997)
1998 - Cow (Kato et al, 1998); Mouse (Wakayama et al, 1998)
1999 - Goat (Baguisi et al, 1999)
2000 - Pig (Polejaeva et al, 2000)
2002 - Rabbit (Chesne et al, 2002); Cat (Shin et al, 2002); Rat (Zhou et al, 2003)
2003 - Horse (Galli et al, 2003); Mule (Woods et al, 2003); Deer (Anon., 2003)
2004 - Buffalo (Shi et al, 2007)
2005 - Dog (Lee et al, 2005)
2006 - Ferret (Li et al, 2006)
```

2009 - **Camel** (Wani *et al*, 2010)

Some suggest that cloning is a simple extension of existing assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) which are already in widespread use in farm animals. However, this is not the case as cloning by somatic cell nuclear transfer is fundamentally different from other established ARTs for a number of reasons:

- Cloning by SCNT goes beyond assisting reproduction through the bringing together of egg and sperm and instead bypasses the requirement for fertilization;
- SCNT produces animals that are genetically unlike any animal found in nature: unlike identical twins produced through conventional reproduction or embryo splitting techniques, animals cloned by SCNT are not true copies of another individual because they contain the nuclear DNA sequence of one individual (from the donor) as well as mitochondrial DNA from another individual (from the recipient egg).

In addition, the SCNT process is more invasive than established ARTs, involving direct manipulation of the recipient egg cell to remove its nucleus (containing the primary DNA sequence) and replace it with the nucleus of the donor cell. The SCNT process is summarised in Figure 3.2.

#### Figure 3.2: The process of cloning by somatic cell nuclear transfer.

Cells are collected from the donor animal (the animal to be cloned) (a) and cultured *in vitro* (b). An oocyte (egg cell) is collected and matured either *in vitro* (collection from dead animal and maturation in the laboratory) or *in vivo* (collection from live animal following superovulation) (c). The oocyte is enucleated (removal of the nucleus containing the primary DNA sequence) (d). A donor cell is transferred into the enucleated oocyte (e). The donor cell and the oocyte are fused by application of an electrical pulse and the reconstructed embryo is activated by electrical or chemical stimulation (f). The reconstructed embryo is cultured *in vitro* or *in vivo* (g) and then transferred to a surrogate animal for gestation (h). The offspring is a clone of the donor animal (i). Source: Adapted from Tian *et al* (2003) & Campbell *et al* (2007).



# 4 CURRENT STATUS & POTENTIAL FUTURE APPLICATIONS OF FARM ANIMAL CLONING

Cloning technology is already being used commercially in some parts of the world for the replication of elite breeding animals, mostly cattle, which are used to produce animals farmed for food production. Cloning can also be used in the production of genetically modified animals for biomedical, research and food production purposes.

#### 4.1 Replication of elite breeding animals

Cloning is already being used commercially in the livestock industry in some parts of the world for the replication of elite breeding animals. It has been widely reported in the media that products from the offspring of cloned animals have already entered the human food chain in the United States and elsewhere (Weiss, 2008; Bethge, 2009; Plume, 2009).

Following the decision by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA, 2008) that products from cloned animals are safe, food from clones and their offspring can freely enter the marketplace in the US and there is no requirement for these products to be labelled. There remains a voluntary moratorium in place for clones of species other than cattle, pigs and goats until more information is available on these species (FDA, 2010).

A number of companies in the US offer cloning services to the livestock breeding industry, primarily for cattle and also for pigs (ViaGen, 2009; Trans Ova Genetics, 2009; Cyagra, 2009). Bovance, a joint venture between ViaGen and Trans Ova Genetics, states (Bovance, 2009):

#### "For more than eight years, cloning has been a successful tool for those clients who have chosen to create genetic twins of their elite cattle."

The situation in Asia is less clear but it is likely that products from the offspring of clones have entered the food chain in at least some Asian countries. As early as 2002, calves cloned from an elite Holstein dairy bull were sold to China by Australian-based company, Clone International (BBC, 2002). Cloning of livestock is also being undertaken within China by Yangling Keyuan Cloning (People's Daily, 2001).

While Bovance (2009) considers that "*cloning will remain a technology suited exclusively for the most elite tier of genetics, and cloned individuals will represent only a fraction of a* 

*percentage of tomorrow's cattle breeding foundation*", some authors have suggested that there will be a transition from the commercial use of semen and offspring of clones to the production of food products from cloned animals themselves over the next few years (Suk *et al*, 2007).

#### 4.2 Production of transgenic animals

Genetic modification of animals involves altering an animal's genetic make-up by adding foreign genes or disabling existing genes. Transgenic animals can be created by microinjection of foreign DNA into recently fertilized eggs. Typically only a very small percentage of the animals produced will express the foreign gene and, even in those that do, the foreign gene may not be expressed in all cells.

Although the SCNT process is very inefficient (see Section 5), cloning is more efficient than the process of creating transgenic animals by microinjection of foreign DNA (Vajta and Gjerris, 2006). Cloning can be used to increase the efficiency of production of transgenic animals using nuclear transfer of cultured transgenic cells. The foreign DNA is introduced to cultured cells, which can then be screened to identify those cells that have successfully incorporated the foreign DNA. These transgenic cells are used as the nuclear donor in the SCNT process to create cloned transgenic animals. Cloning could also be used to create multiple copies of an existing transgenic animal.

The use of cloning technology is therefore facilitating the development and commercialisation of genetically modified animals for food production purposes. Potential applications include::

- The production of animal products with altered characteristics, for example, milk with higher levels of proteins called caseins (to increase the yield of cheese that can be obtained) or lower levels of lactose or lactoglobulin (substances in milk which can cause allergic reactions in some people) (Heyman, 2001); and
- The production of cloned transgenic male animals who produce mono-sex sperm the animals are modified to disrupt the development of either X- or Y-chromosomebearing sperm so that single-sex offspring are produced (Forsberg, 2005).

## 5. IMPACT OF CLONING ON THE WELFARE OF FARM ANIMALS

#### 5.1 Welfare of clones

The large majority of cloned embryos fail to develop to term and, for those that do, a significant proportion of the animals die during or shortly after birth or at various times over the following days and weeks of life from cardiovascular failure, respiratory problems, liver or kidney failure, immuno-deficiencies or musculoskeletal abnormalities.

Clones may be born unusually large and with a range of associated health problems, termed "large offspring syndrome" (LOS). This is a common problem in cattle and sheep clones and gives rise to increased perinatal mortality, excess foetal size, abnormal placental development, enlarged internal organs, increased susceptibility to disease, sudden death, reluctance to suckle and difficulty in breathing and standing (EFSA, 2008). LOS was first described in pregnancies with *in vitro*-fertilized embryos but its incidence is much higher in clone pregnancies (*Ibid*.). In contrast to cattle and sheep clones, with cloned piglets there is an increased incidence of growth retardation during development in the uterus, resulting in low birth weight (*Ibid*.).

Panarace *et al* (2007) reviewed commercial experience of cattle cloning over five years in the US, Argentina and Brazil. Overall, only 9% of transferred embryos resulted in the birth of live calves. Continual losses during gestation were documented, with 37% of recipient cows being pregnant 30 days into gestation, falling to 11% at term. On average, 42% of cloned calves died between delivery and 150 days of age. 18% died during birth, 10% died within the first 24 hours and a further 14% died up to 150 days of age. The most common abnormalities were enlarged umbilical cord (37%), contracted flexor tendons (21%), calves depressed/prolonged recumbency (20%), respiratory problems (19%), hyper/hypothermia (17%) and persistent urachus (failure of the connection between the bladder and the naval to close) (10%). 37% of calves required treatment with antibiotics.

Watanabe and Nagai (2009) reviewed mortality in cloned cattle and their offspring in Japan. 16.4% of cloned calves were stillborn and a further 14.4% died within the first 24 hours. 24.1% of cloned cattle died due to disease during the first 30 days of their life. The main problems identified in dead calves two to three days after birth were respiratory problems (35.3%) and deformed hearts (11.8%). After four days the major cause of death was pneumonia. By 200 days of age, mortality in cloned cattle reached the same level as conventionally bred cattle. Mortality in the offspring of cloned cattle did not differ significantly from mortality in conventionally bred cattle.

Loi *et al* (2004) reviewed experience of sheep cloning over six years in Europe. While early development of clone embryos appeared similar to control embryos produced by fertilization, the majority of clone pregnancies established at day 30 were lost over the following months and problems were observed in the few pregnancies that were carried to term. Only 13% of clone pregnancies reached term. Around 40% of the surrogate animals carrying clones developed acute hydroallantois (rapid accumulation of fluid in the placenta during the latter stages of pregnancy) and 45% showed a premature placental ageing (postmature placenta). In both cases, the offspring were born alive but died at various times after delivery. Post-mortem investigations revealed that the ultimate cause of death was a direct consequence of placental abnormalities. Overall, placental abnormalities were observed in 67% of live clone births. The abnormalities leading to pre- and post-natal mortality in the large majority of clones that developed to term were hardly seen in *in vitro*-derived fertilized embryos and were totally absent in naturally mated ewes. At the time of the review no cloned sheep remained alive.

In its 2008 Opinion on Animal Cloning, the EFSA Scientific Committee, which advises the European Commission, concludes (EFSA, 2008):

#### "The health and welfare of a significant proportion of clones, mainly within the juvenile period for bovines and perinatal period for pigs, have been found to be adversely affected, often severely and with a fatal outcome."

In June 2009, the EFSA Scientific Committee examined further evidence and confirmed that these conclusions are still valid (EFSA, 2009).

In order for the SCNT process to be successful, the donor cell must be correctly reprogrammed so that gene expression is properly controlled in order to allow normal development. The major cause of abnormalities in clones appears to be incorrect reprogramming of the donor cell genome. EFSA (2008) states:

# *"Epigenetic dysregulation [abnormal control of gene expression] is considered to be the main source of adverse effects that may affect clones and result in developmental abnormalities."*

The effects of these reprogramming failures are obvious in the majority of cloned animals, resulting in a range of physical abnormalities and illnesses which clearly cause suffering and

often death. Even those clones that survive and appear normal may have underlying abnormalities. During early development in mammal embryos, the majority of genes on the X chromosome are repressed (switched off) in a process called "X inactivation". This is one of the epigenetic processes that may not happen properly in clone embryos. Research by Cao Geng–Sheng *et al* (2009) suggests that even apparently normal clones may have subtle epigenetic abnormalities. The authors state:

"Our data also indicate that epigenetic modifications... that are associated with gene repression, are all aberrant to some extent in live cloned cattle."



#### © Photo courtesy: AP Photo/Wade Payne

Even clones who appear healthy may have underlying abnormalities. Millennium, known as Millie, a cloned Jersey calf seen here in 2000, was found dead at 9 months of age in a pasture at the University of Tennessee Agricultural Experiment Station in Knoxville, Tennessee. A bacterial infection was blamed for killing Millie, who had appeared healthy until her sudden death.

There is insufficient data available to date to be able to draw firm conclusions about the long-term health of cloned livestock. However, studies of cloned mice suggest that surviving clones may suffer long-term health problems, including obesity and abnormalities in a number of organs and early death (Ogonuki *et al*, 2002; Tamashiro *et al*, 2002; Inui, 2003; Shimozawa *et al*, 2006).

#### 5.2 Welfare of surrogate dams

Pregnancy failure and abnormal or difficult delivery (dystocia) are common in clone pregnancies and delivery is often by Caesarean section (EFSA, 2008). Initial pregnancy rates in cattle used as surrogate dams are similar between those carrying clones and those carrying embryos produced by artificial insemination or *in vitro* fertilization. However, there is a continued pregnancy loss throughout the entire gestation period in those carrying clones which is not observed with other ARTs and embryo survival is only one third of that following *in vitro* embryo production (*Ibid.*). The high rate of pregnancy failure is linked to placental abnormalities (Hill *et al*, 2000; Oishi *et al*, 2006; Kim *et al*, 2009).

In its 2008 Opinion on Animal Cloning, the EFSA Scientific Committee, which advises the European Commission, states (EFSA, 2008):

"For surrogate dams, an increase in pregnancy failure has been observed in cattle and pigs and increased frequencies of hydrops [abnormal accumulation of fluid in the foetus] and dystocia have been observed especially in cattle. This together with the increased size of the offspring (large offspring syndrome) makes Caesarean sections more frequent in cattle carrying a clone than with conventional pregnancies... [D]ystocia carries the risk of unrelieved "extra" pain during birth due to the large offspring. If the dam has to have a Caesarean section then that itself carries the risk of pain and anxiety due to the procedures involved, including a failure to provide adequate post-operative pain relief. If the Caesarean section is not planned then there is the added burden of the pain of both the dystocia and the Caesarean section."

#### 5.3 Welfare of clone offspring

From the limited data available, it appears that the offspring of cloned animals do not suffer from any obvious abnormal effects. However, cloning of farm animals for food production is likely to focus on the replication of elite high-yielding animals for breeding (see Section 4.1). Such animals already suffer from a range of serious health and welfare problems associated with selection for high productivity (see Section 2). The use of cloning in commercial livestock breeding is therefore likely to accelerate the spread of genetics that are associated with poor welfare, leading to greater suffering from health and welfare problems connected with fast growth and high yields. It is increasingly being recognised that livestock breeding must pursue different goals, aimed at producing more robust animals, if farm animals are to have an acceptable quality of life (Rauw *et al*, 1998; Sandøe *et al*, 1999).

The European Parliament (2008) states:

"While the principal purpose of cloning is to produce multiple copies of animals with fast growth rates or high yields, traditional selective breeding has already led to leg disorders and cardiovascular malfunction in fast-growing pigs, and lameness, mastitis and premature culling in high-yielding cattle... cloning the fastest-growing and highest-yielding animals will lead to even higher levels of health and welfare problems."

The large majority of cloned embryos fail to develop to term and, for those that do, a significant proportion of the animals die during or shortly after birth or at various times over the following days and weeks of life. In its 2008 Opinion on Animal Cloning, the EFSA Scientific Committee, which advises the European Commission, concludes:

"The health and welfare of a significant proportion of clones, mainly within the juvenile period for bovines and perinatal period for pigs, have been found to be adversely affected, often severely and with a fatal outcome."

The welfare of animals used as surrogate dams is also adversely affected because of the high rates of pregnancy failure, birthing difficulties and Caesarean section.

Although the offspring of clones do not appear to suffer any obvious abnormal effects, the use of cloning to replicate elite high-yielding animals for breeding is likely to accelerate the spread of genetics associated with poor welfare, leading to greater suffering from health and welfare problems connected with fast growth and high yields.

# 6. THREAT TO LIVESTOCK GENETIC DIVERSITY FROM FARM ANIMAL CLONING

The world's livestock diversity is currently shrinking, with rapid and uncontrolled loss of unique and often uncharacterised animal genetic resources (FAO, 2007). If breeds become extinct before their unique adaptive attributes and disease-resistance qualities have been identified, genetic resources which could greatly contribute to improving animal health are lost forever (*Ibid.*).

The objectives of commercial breeders tend to be short-term profitability, and their interests centre on the limited range of livestock breeds that can achieve high levels of output in large-scale production systems. This has increasingly led to the worldwide spread of a few specialized breeds, especially for poultry, pig and dairy cow production, rather than the development of a broad range of genetic material (*Ibid.*).

This global spread of a small number of specialised breeds has been facilitated by the development of assisted reproductive technologies. In principle, all artificial breeding could reduce biodiversity (Bulfield, 2000). The use of artificial insemination (AI) has restricted the male side of breeding, especially for dairy cattle, to a few elite individuals who are considered to have outstanding characteristics (*Ibid.*). Thus, AI is one of the main causes of genetic erosion in farm animals (Basrur & King, 2005).

Along with other assisted reproductive technologies, some suggest that cloning could be used to help preserve rare indigenous breeds of livestock (Wells *et al*, 1998) or individual animals within a breed who possess unique characteristics (Westhusin *et al*, 2007) in order to prevent the loss of unique traits, such as resistance to a particular disease or adaptability to local environments, from the global gene pool (Wells, 2003). However, the commercial use of cloning to replicate elite breeding animals is likely to further contribute to the erosion of livestock genetic diversity. EFSA (2008) concludes:

"Cloning does not appear to have a direct effect on genetic diversity in that no new genetic modifications are introduced, but there could be an indirect effect due to overuse of a limited number of animals in breeding programmes. An increased homogeneity of a genotype within a population may increase the susceptibility of an animal population to infection and other risk factors." The European Parliament (2008) states:

"[C]loning would significantly reduce genetic diversity within livestock populations, increasing the possibility of whole herds being decimated by diseases to which they are susceptible."

Such a possibility could have very serious consequences, not only for animal welfare, but also for rural communities and economies.

The world's livestock diversity is currently shrinking, with rapid and uncontrolled loss of unique and often uncharacterised animal genetic resources. The global spread of a small number of specialised breeds has been facilitated by the development of assisted reproductive technologies, particularly artificial insemination.

Some suggest that cloning technology could be used to replicate individuals of rare and endangered livestock breeds, which could help to preserve genetic diversity. However, the commercial use of cloning to replicate elite breeding animals is likely to further contribute to the erosion of livestock genetic diversity.

Reduced genetic diversity increases the susceptibility of livestock populations to diseases and other risk factors. This raises the possibility of large numbers of animals succumbing to diseases to which they are susceptible, with potentially serious animal welfare, social and economic consequences.

# 7. SAFETY OF FOOD FROM CLONED ANIMALS

The European Food Safety Authority evaluated the safety of foods from cloned animals and their offspring (EFSA, 2008). Due to the limited data available, only the safety of products from cattle (milk and meat) and pigs (meat) were evaluated, considering compositional and nutritional data, the probability of the presence of novel constituents, toxicity and allergenicity, and the health status of the animals. EFSA concludes (*Ibid.*):

"Based on current knowledge, and considering the fact that the primary DNA sequence is unchanged in clones, there is no indication that differences exist in terms of food safety between food products from healthy cattle and pig clones and their progeny, compared with those from healthy conventionally-bred animals."

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) reached a similar conclusion in their assessment of the safety of products from cloned cattle, pigs and goats and their offspring (FDA, 2008).

Based on the limited data currently available, the European Food Safety Authority and the US Food and Drug Administration have concluded that there is unlikely to be any increased food safety risk associated with eating meat and milk from cloned animals. However, further studies are warranted to rule out any potential food safety issues from the consumption of products from cloned animals and their offspring.

However, EFSA acknowledges that there is limited information on the immune competence of clones and that it is therefore unclear whether there may potentially be an increased public health risk from cloned animal products if clones are more susceptible to infection by pathogens that can also infect humans. EFSA recommends that the susceptibility of clones and their offspring to disease should be investigated further and, if evidence of reduced immune competence of clones becomes available, it should be investigated whether consumption of meat and milk derived from clones or their offspring may lead to an increased human exposure to pathogens (EFSA, 2008).

Other authors have also highlighted the need for further research. For example, Heyman *et al* (2007) concluded that the quality and safety of milk and meat from healthy adult cloned cattle are broadly similar to those from normal animals but they advise:

"Cloned animals, although apparently normal, are however significantly different from contemporary controls maintained in the same conditions, and we feel that more studies on clones and offspring of clones are necessary to evaluate the safety of their use for human consumption."

Butler (2009) argues that a risk assessment approach incorporating the assumption that cloning does not put any new substances into an animal (because the primary DNA sequence is unchanged) is flawed. She points out that animal clones produced by SCNT are fundamentally different from conventionally bred animals and are unlike any found in nature. She therefore argues that the entire cloned animal should itself be treated as a new substance and be subject to long-term studies to assess the safety of eating food products from clones.

Risk assessments carried out by the European Food Safety Authority and the US Food and Drug Administration suggest that products from cloned animals and their offspring are unlikely to carry any increased food safety risks compared with conventional food products. However, there are limited data available and further studies, including long-term trials, are warranted to rule out any potential food safety issues from the consumption of products from cloned animals and their offspring.

# 8. PUBLIC OPINION ON THE CLONING OF ANIMALS FOR FOOD

A Eurobarometer survey of the attitudes of EU citizens to animal cloning, carried out in 2008, found that the majority of EU citizens are opposed to animal cloning, particularly for food production purposes (European Commission, 2008):

- 58% said that cloning for food production would never be justified;
- A further 28% said that cloning for food production would only be justified under certain circumstances;
- 84% agreed that we don't have enough experience about the long-term health and safety effects of using cloned animals for food;
- 75% agreed that cloning animals for human consumption could be seen as unacceptable on ethical grounds;
- 69% agreed that animal cloning for food production isn't acceptable because it would treat animals as commodities rather than as creatures with feelings;
- 63% said that it was unlikely that they would buy meat or milk from cloned animals, even if a trusted source stated that such products were safe to eat: 20% said it was somewhat unlikely and 43% said it was not at all likely;
- Respondents did not view products from the offspring of clones any more favourably than the products of clones themselves, with 62% saying that it was unlikely that they would buy meat or milk from animals where one of the parents was a clone.

When presented with a number of statements regarding the ethics of animal cloning, the majority of EU citizens agreed that (*Ibid.*):

- The long-term effects of animal cloning on nature are unknown (84%);
- Animal cloning might lead to human cloning (77%);
- Cloning might decrease the genetic diversity within livestock populations (63%);
- Animal cloning is morally wrong (61%).

The survey also highlights the importance of labelling to EU citizens (*Ibid.*):

• Nine out of 10 EU citizens considered it important that, if food products from offspring of cloned animals became available, that these products should be clearly labelled: 83% said this should certainly be the case and an additional 7% said this should probably be so.

In its 2008 Opinion on Ethical Aspects of Animal Cloning for Food Supply, the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE) stresses the importance of protecting consumers' freedom and rights by ensuring that consumers are provided with sufficient information to enable them to choose the kind of products they want (EGE, 2008).

If products from cloned animals or their offspring are permitted to enter the food chain in the EU, there is a risk of serious damage to the image of the European livestock industry, leading to a loss of consumer confidence and associated economic risks. The European Parliament (2008) states:

#### "[C]loning poses a serious threat to the image and substance of the European agricultural model, which is based on product quality, environment-friendly principles and respect for stringent animal welfare conditions."

A number of livestock industry organisations in Europe and around the world have expressed similar concerns regarding the introduction of food from cloned animals, including the European Farmers Coordination (Van Tichelen *et al*, 2008), the Italian farmers' group Coldiretti (BBC, 2008) and the Dutch farmers' organisation LTO (Smet, 2008). Klaas-Johan Osinga, policy official of the LTO, is quoted as saying (*Ibid.*):

#### "We are opposed to cloning because consumers do not want it. Also, cloning does not help us improve the genetic quality of our livestock, as well as being too expensive".

The New Zealand Meat Industry Association (MIA) and Deer Industry New Zealand (DINZ) have expressed concern at the "*serious market risks associated with the use of cloned animals [that] arise from [negative] consumer perceptions... toward clones and the offspring of clones*" (MIA/DINZ, 2009). In a letter to the New Zealand Food Safety Authority, MIA and DINZ stress the importance of mandatory registration and tagging, both of clones and of the offspring of clones, so that these animals can be reliably identified to allow them to be excluded from products (*Ibid.*).

The majority of EU citizens are opposed to animal cloning for food production purposes and state that they would be unlikely to buy products from cloned animals or their offspring, even if they are shown to be safe. If food products from the offspring of cloned animals were to become available, the vast majority of EU citizens believe that special labelling should be required. It is essential that the freedom and rights of consumers to choose to avoid products from cloned animals and their offspring are respected.

A number of farmers' groups have expressed concern at the threat to the image of the livestock industry if products from cloned animals or their offspring are permitted to enter the food chain, potentially leading to a loss of consumer confidence and associated economic consequences.

# 9. CAN THE CLONING OF ANIMALS FOR FOOD BE JUSTIFIED?

Compassion in World Farming believes that the cloning of animals for food should not be permitted due to a number of serious concerns outlined in this report, namely:

- There are very serious welfare problems affecting a large proportion of clones and surrogate dams;
- The use of cloning to replicate elite high-yielding animals for breeding is likely to accelerate the spread of genetics associated with poor welfare, leading to greater suffering from health and welfare problems connected with fast growth and high yields;
- The cloning of elite animals for breeding is likely to further contribute to the erosion of livestock genetic diversity;
- There is strong public opposition to the cloning of animals, particularly for food production purposes.

This view is supported by the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE), which advises the European Commission, and by the European Parliament.

The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies states (EGE, 2008):

"Considering the current level of suffering and health problems of surrogate dams and animal clones, the EGE has doubts as to whether cloning animals for food supply is ethically justified."

And concludes (Ibid.):

# "At present, the EGE does not see convincing arguments to justify the production of food from clones and their offspring".

On 3 September 2008, the European Parliament adopted a resolution calling for a ban on (European Parliament, 2008):

- The cloning of animals for food supply purposes;
- The farming of cloned animals or their offspring;
- The placing on the market of meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring;
- The importing of cloned animals, their offspring, semen and embryos from cloned animals or their offspring, and meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring.

The main concerns cited by the Parliament are threats to animal welfare, genetic diversity, consumer confidence and the image and substance of the European agricultural model.

## 10. REGULATORY STATUS OF ANIMAL CLONING FOR FOOD IN THE EU

At present, there is no specific EU legislation governing animal cloning, although various pieces of existing legislation will apply to cloned animals and food products from cloned animals under specific circumstances.

EU animal welfare legislation states (Council Directive 98/58/EC):

"Natural or artificial breeding or breeding procedures which case [sic] or are likely to cause suffering or injury to any of the animals concerned must not be practised." There is substantial evidence that the SCNT procedure causes suffering due to the high levels of mortality and health problems seen in cloned animals, as well as the impact on the welfare of surrogate dams (see Section 5). Compassion in World Farming believes that, if the EU were to allow the cloning of animals for food production, this would be in contravention both of Council Directive 98/58/EC and of The Lisbon Treaty, which requires the EU and its Member States to "*pay full regard to the welfare requirements of animals*" when formulating and implementing EU policies.

A fundamental principle of EU food law, set out in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, stipulates that food must not be placed on the market if it is unsafe. In addition, animal cloning is considered a novel food production process in the EU, and therefore any food or ingredient from a cloned animal requires prior authorisation under the Novel Food Regulation (EC) No 258/97 before being placed on the EU market.

A major concern is the possibility of imported products from clones or their offspring entering the food chain in the EU, especially as there is no requirement in the US for such products to be identified or labelled. The import and export of food products from clones and their offspring will be subject to World Trade Organisation (WTO) rules on trade and barriers to global trade. Compassion in World Farming believes that any WTO challenge could be successfully resisted. The Community could, in our view, successfully contend that a marketing or import ban fell to be considered under GATT Article III (internal regulations) rather than Article XI (import restrictions) and further, that cloned animals and products derived from them are not "like" sexually produced animals and products obtained from them. If this argument were to fail, the Community could justify marketing or import restrictions under Article XX (a) [public morals] or (b) [animal health].

There is an urgent need for the development and introduction of specific EU legislation to govern animal cloning and food products from clones and their offspring. Compassion in World Farming calls on the European Union to follow the Parliament's wishes and implement 1) a complete ban on the cloning of animals for food production purposes and the farming of cloned animals or their offspring, 2) a complete ban on the placing on the market of meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring, and an embargo on imports of cloned animals and their offspring, semen and embryos from cloned animals or their offspring and meat and dairy products derived from such animals.

### 11. CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

- Selective breeding, aided by a number of assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs), has led to the development of increasingly specialised livestock breeds that produce very high yields of a single commodity (such as meat, milk or eggs). The drive to increase productivity has in many cases had serious consequences for the health and welfare of the animals.
- Cloning by somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) is fundamentally different from other established ARTs in that it goes beyond assisting in bringing together the egg and sperm and instead bypasses the requirement for fertilization. SCNT produces animals that are genetically unlike any animal found in nature.
- Many species have been cloned since Dolly the sheep, the first mammal to be cloned from an adult cell, was born in 1996. There are now estimated to be around 6000 farm animal clones worldwide.
- Cloning technology is already being used commercially in some parts of the world for the replication of elite breeding animals, mostly cattle, which are used to produce animals farmed for food production.
- Cloning can be used to increase the efficiency of production of transgenic animals using nuclear transfer of cultured transgenic cells. The use of cloning technology is therefore facilitating the development and commercialisation of genetically modified animals for biomedical, research and food production purposes. Compassion in World Farming is opposed to the genetic modification of farm animals.
- Cloning has very serious consequences for animal welfare. The large majority of cloned embryos fail to develop to term and, for those that do, a significant proportion of the animals die during or shortly after birth or at various times over the following days and weeks of life. In its 2008 Opinion on Animal Cloning, the EFSA Scientific Committee, which advises the European Commission, concludes:

"The health and welfare of a significant proportion of clones, mainly within the juvenile period for bovines and perinatal period for pigs, have been found to be adversely affected, often severely and with a fatal outcome."

- The welfare of animals used as surrogate dams is also adversely affected because of the high rates of pregnancy failure, birthing difficulties and Caesarean sections.
- Although the offspring of clones do not appear to suffer any obvious abnormal effects, the use of cloning to replicate elite high-yielding animals for breeding is likely to accelerate the spread of livestock genetics associated with poor welfare, leading to greater suffering from health and welfare problems connected with fast growth and high yields.
- The world's livestock diversity is currently shrinking, with rapid and uncontrolled loss of unique and often uncharacterised animal genetic resources. The global spread of a small number of specialised breeds has been facilitated by the development of ARTs, particularly artificial insemination.
- Some suggest that cloning technology could be used to replicate individuals of rare and endangered livestock breeds, which could help to preserve genetic diversity. However, the commercial use of cloning to replicate elite breeding animals is likely to further contribute to the erosion of livestock genetic diversity.
- Reduced genetic diversity increases the susceptibility of livestock populations to diseases and other risk factors. This raises the possibility of large numbers of animals succumbing to diseases to which they are susceptible, with potentially serious animal welfare, social and economic consequences.
- Risk assessments carried out by the European Food Safety Authority and the US Food and Drug Administration suggest that products from cloned animals and their offspring are unlikely to carry any increased food safety risks compared with conventional food products. However, there are limited data available and further studies, including long-term trials, are warranted to rule out any potential food safety issues from the consumption of products from cloned animals and their offspring.
- The majority of EU citizens are opposed to animal cloning for food production purposes and state that they would be unlikely to buy products from cloned animals or their offspring, even if they are shown to be safe. If food products from the offspring of cloned animals were to become available, the vast majority of EU citizens believe that special labelling should be required. It is essential that the freedom and rights of consumers to choose to avoid products from cloned animals and their offspring are respected.

- A number of farmers' groups have expressed concern at the threat to the image of the EU livestock industry if products from cloned animals or their offspring are permitted to enter the food chain, potentially leading to a loss of consumer confidence and associated economic consequences.
- The cloning of animals for food production is not ethically justifiable. The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies (EGE), which advises the European Comission, concludes:

"Considering the current level of suffering and health problems of surrogate dams and animal clones, the EGE has doubts as to whether cloning animals for food supply is ethically justified... At present, the EGE does not see convincing arguments to justify the production of food from clones and their offspring"

- The European Parliament has adopted a resolution calling for a ban on the cloning of animals for food supply purposes, the farming of cloned animals or their offspring, the placing on the market of meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring, and the importing of cloned animals, their offspring, semen and embryos from cloned animals or their offspring, and meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring.
- At present there is no specific EU legislation governing animal cloning, although various pieces of existing legislation will apply to cloned animals and food products from cloned animals under specific circumstances. Council Directive 98/58/EC states:

"Natural or artificial breeding or breeding procedures which case [sic] or are likely to cause suffering or injury to any of the animals concerned must not be practised."

- Compassion in World Farming believes that, if the EU were to allow the cloning of animals for food production, this would be in contravention both of Council Directive 98/58/EC and of the Lisbon Treaty.
- There is an urgent need for the development and introduction of specific EU legislation to govern animal cloning and food products from clones and their offspring.

Compassion in World Farming calls on the European Union to follow the Parliament's wishes and implement: 1) a complete ban on the cloning of animals for food production purposes and the farming of cloned animals or their offspring; 2) a complete ban on the placing on the market of meat or dairy products derived from cloned animals or their offspring; and 3) an embargo on imports of cloned animals and their offspring, semen and embryos from cloned animals or their offspring and meat and dairy products derived from such animals.



#### © PHOTO courtesy credit – INRA

The birth of this cloned calf was reported in 1999 by the French National Institute for Agricultural Research (INRA). She appeared healthy until six weeks of age when she developed severe anaemia and died. Post-mortem examinations revealed that her immune system had not developed properly.

### REFERENCES

Abdul-Aziz, T. A. (1998) Cage layer fatigue is a complicated problem. *World Poultry*, 14: 56-58.

**AHAW** (2007a) Scientific Report on animal health and welfare in fattening pigs in relation to housing and husbandry. Annex to *The EFSA Journal*, 564: 1–14.

**AHAW** (2007b) Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Animal Health and Welfare on a request from the Commission on animal health and welfare in fattening pigs in relation to housing and husbandry. *The EFSA Journal*, 564: 1-14.

**AHAW** (2007c) Scientific Report on animal health and welfare aspects of different housing and husbandry systems for adult breeding boars, pregnant, farrowing sows and unweaned piglets. Annex to the *EFSA Journal*, 572: 1–13.

**AHAW** (2007d) Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Animal Health and Welfare on a request from the Commission on animal health and welfare aspects of different housing and husbandry systems for adult breeding boars, pregnant, farrowing sows and unweaned piglets. *The EFSA Journal*, 572: 1–13.

**AHAW** (2009) Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Animal Health and Welfare on a request from the European Commission on welfare of dairy cows. *The EFSA Journal,* 1143: 1-38.

Anon. (2003) *CVM Researchers First to Clone White-tailed Deer*. Press Release, Texas A&M University, College of Veterinary Medicine and Biomedical Sciences. <u>http://www.cvm.tamu.edu/news/releases/2003/deer\_clone.shtml</u>

Aviagen (2010) *Welcome to Aviagen*. <u>http://www.aviagen.com/output.aspx?con=334&sec=10&siteId=1</u>

**Banner Committee** (1995) *Report of the Committee to Consider the Ethical Implications of Emerging Technologies in the Breeding of Farm Animals.* Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. HMSO, London, UK.

Baguisi, A., Behboodi, E., Melican, D. T., Pollock, J. S., Destrempes, M. M., Cammuso, C., Williams, J. L., Nims, S. D., Porter, C. A., Midura, P., Palacios, M. J. and Ayres, S. L. (1999) Production of goats by somatic cell nuclear transfer. *Nature Biotechnology*, 17: 456-461.

**Basrur, P. K.** and **King, W. A.** (2005) Genetics now and then: breeding the best and biotechnology. *Revue Scientifique et Technique de l'Office International des Epizooties*, 24: 31–49.

**BBC** (2002) *Commercial cloning hits China*. 24 January 2002. <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/sci/tech/1779775.stm</u>

**BBC** (2008) *Italian farmers fight cloned food.* 14 January 2008. <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/7187945.stm</u>

**Bovance** (2009) *Cloning Q&A for Editors.* <u>http://www.bovance.com/BovanceCloningQ%26A\_011508.pdf</u>

**Bradley, A. J., Leach, K. A., Breen, J. E., Green, L. E.** and **Green, M. A.** (2007) Survey of the incidence and aetiology of mastitis on dairy farms in England and Wales. *Veterinary Record,* 160: 253–258.

**Broom, D. M.** (2009) The roles of industry and science, including genetic selection, in improving animal welfare. *Lucari stiintifice Zootehnie si Biotehnologii*, 42: 532–546.

**Budgell, K. L.** and **Silversides, F. G.** (2004) Bone breakage in three strains of end-of-lay hens. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 84: 745-747.

**Bulfield, G.** (2000) Biotechnology: advances and impact. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80: 2077–2080.

**Butler, W. R.** and **Smith, R. D.** (1989) Interrelationships between energy balance and postpartum reproductive function in dairy cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 72: 767–783.

**Butler, J. E. F.** (2009) Cloned animal products in the human food chain: FDA should protect American consumers. *Food and Drug Law Journal*, 64: 473–502.

Campbell, K. H. S., Fisher, P., Chen, W. C., Choi, I., Kelly, R. D. W., Lee, J. H., Xhu, J. and Dieleman, S. J. (2007) Somatic cell nuclear transfer: past, present and future perspectives. *Theriogenology*, 68: S214–S231.

**Cao Geng–Sheng, Gao Yu, Wang Kun, Ding Fang–Rong** and **Li Ning** (2009) Repressive but not activating epigenetic modifications are aberrant on the inactive X chromosome in live cloned cattle. *Development, Growth and Differentiation*, 51: 585–594.

**Chesne, P., Adenot, P. G., Viglietta, C., Baratte, M., Boulanger, L.** and **Renard, J. P**. (2002) Cloned rabbits produced by nuclear transfer from adult somatic cells. *Nature Biotechnology*, 20: 366–369.

Clarkson, M. J., Downham, D. Y., Faull, W. B., Hughes, J. W., Manson, F. J., Merritt, J. B., Murray, R. D., Russell, W. B., Sutherst, J. E. and Ward, W. R. (1996) Incidence and prevalence of lameness in dairy cattle. *Veterinary Record*, 138: 563–567.

**Cobb–Vantress** (2010) *How Cobb has become world leader*. <u>http://www.cobb–vantress.com/AboutUs/CobbHistory.aspx</u>

**Council Directive 98/58/EC** of 20 July 1998 concerning the protection of animals kept for farming purposes. *Official Journal* L 221, 8/8/1998, pp. 23–27.

Danbury, T. C., Weeks, C. A., Chambers, J. P., Waterman-Pearson, A. E. and Kestin, S. C. (2000) Self-selection of the analgesic drug carprofen by lame broiler chickens. *Veterinary Record*, 146: 307-311.

**Defra** *et al* (2008) *Agriculture in the United Kingdom 2008.* Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (Northern Ireland); Welsh Assembly Government, The Department for Rural Affairs and Heritage; The Scottish Government, Rural and Environment Research and Analysis Directorate.

Duncan, I. J. H., Beatty, E. R., Hocking, P. M. and Duff, S. R. I. (1991) Assessment of pain associated with degenerative hip disorders in adult male turkeys. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 50: 200–203.

**EFSA** (2008) Scientific Opinion of the Scientific Committee on a request from the European Commission on food safety, animal health and welfare and environmental impact of animals derived from cloning by somatic cell nucleus transfer (SCNT) and their offspring and products obtained from those animals. *The EFSA Journal*, 767: 1–49.

**EFSA** (2009) Statement of EFSA prepared by the Scientific Committee and Advisory Forum Unit on Further Advice on the Implications of Animal Cloning (SCNT). *The EFSA Journal*, RN 319: 1–15.

**EGE** (2008) *Opinion No. 23: Ethical Aspects of Animal Cloning for Food Supply*. The European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies to the European Commission, 16 January 2008.

**Esslemont, R. J.** and **Kossaibati, M. A.** (1996) Incidence of production diseases and other health problems in a group of dairy herds in England. *Veterinary Record*, 139: 486–490.

**Esslemont, R. J.** and **Kossaibati, M. A.** (1997) Culling in 50 dairy herds in England. *Veterinary Record*, 140: 36-39.

**Esslemont, R. J.** and **Kossaibati, M. A.** (2002) *DAISY Research Report No. 5: The costs of poor fertility and disease in UK dairy herds – trends in DAISY herds over 10 seasons*. Intervet UK Ltd, Milton Keynes.

**European Commission** (2008) *Europeans' Attitudes Towards Animal Cloning.* Flash Eurobarometer 238. Conducted by The Gallup Organization, Hungary, upon the request of Directorate General Health and Consumers. October 2008.

**European Parliament** (2008) *European Parliament resolution of 3 September 2008 on the cloning of animals for food supply.* P6\_TA-PROV(2008)0400.

**FAO** (2007) *The State of the World's Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture*. Rischkowsky, B. and Pilling, D. (eds.). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.

**FDA** (2008) *Animal Cloning: A Risk Assessment.* Centre for Veterinary Medicine, US Food and Drug Administration, Department of Health and Human Services, Rockville, Maryland, USA. 8 January 2008.

Friere, R., Wilkins, L. J., Short, F. and Nicol, C. J. (2003) Behaviour and welfare of individual hens in a non-cage system. *British Poultry Science*, 44: 22–29.

**Forsberg, E. J.** (2005) Commercial applications of nuclear transfer cloning: three examples. *Reproduction, Fertility and Development*, 17: 59–68.

Galli, C., Lagutina, I., Crotti, G., Colleoni, S., Turini, P., Ponderato, N., Duchi, R. and Lazzari, G. (2003) Pregnancy: a cloned horse born to its dam twin. *Nature*, 424: 635.

Gallo, L., Carnier, P., Cassandro, M., Mantovani, R., Bailoni, L., Contiero, B. and Bittante, G. (1996) Change in body condition score of Holstein cows as affected by parity and mature equivalent milk yield. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 79: 1009–1015.

Genus (2010a) *Bovine genetics*. <u>http://www.genusplc.com/?pg=about\_abs</u>

**Genus** (2010b) *Porcine genetics*. <u>http://www.genusplc.com/?pg=about\_pic</u>

**Gregory, N. G.** and **Wilkins, L. J.** (1989) Broken bones in domestic fowl: handling and processing damage in end-of-lay battery hens. *British Poultry Science*, 30: 555-562.

**Gregory, N. G., Wilkins, L. J., Eleperuma, S. D., Ballantyne, A. J.** and **Overfield, N. D.** (1990) Broken bones in domestic fowls: effect of husbandry system and stunning method in end-of-lay hens. *British Poultry Science*, 31: 59–69.

Hay, M., Rue, J., Sansac, C., Brunel, G. and Prunier, A. (2004) Long-term detrimental effects of tooth clipping or grinding in piglets: a histological approach. *Animal Welfare*, 13: 27-32.

**Heyman, Y., Renaville, R.** and **Burny, A.** (2001) Cloning and transgenics in cattle: potential applications. In *Biotechnology in Animal Husbandry*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp. 235–259.

Heyman, Y., Chavatte-Palmer, P., Fromentin, G., Berthelot, V., Jurie, C., Bas, P., Dubarry, M., Mialot, J. P., Remy, D., Richard, C., Martignat, L., Vignon, X. and Renard, J. P. (2007). Quality and safety of bovine clones and their products. *Animal*, 1: 963–972.

Hill, J. R., Burghardt, R. C., Jones, K., Long, C. R., Looney, C. R. Shin, T., Spencer, T. E., Thompson, J. A., Winger, Q. A. and Westhusin, M. E. (2000) Evidence for placental abnormality as the major cause of mortality in first-trimester somatic cell cloned bovine fetuses. *Biology of Reproduction*, 63: 1787–1794.

Hocking, P. M., Bain, M., Channing, C. E., Fleming, R. and Wilson, S. (2003) Genetic variation for egg production, egg quality and bone strength in selected and traditional breeds of laying fowl. *British Poultry Science*, 44: 365–373.

**Inui, A.** (2003) Obesity – a chronic health problem in cloned mice? *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 24: 77–80.

**ISA** (2010) *Welcome to Institut de Sélection Animale (ISA)*. <u>http://www.isapoultry.com/template.php?sectionId=1</u>

Julian, R. J. (2005) Production and growth related disorders and other metabolic diseases of poultry – A review. *The Veterinary Journal*, 169: 350–369.

Kato, Y., Tani, T., Sotomaru, Y., Kurokawa, K., Kato, J., Doguchi, H., Yasue, H. and Tsunoda, Y. (1998) Eight calves cloned from somatic cells of single adult. *Science*, 282: 2095-2098.

Kim, H. R., Naruse, K., Lee, H. R., Han, R. X., Park, C. S. and Jin, D. I. (2009) Abnormal expression of TIMP-2, SOD, vimentin and PAI proteins in cloned bovine placentae. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals*, 44: 714-717.

Knowles, T. G., Kestin, S. C., Haslam, S. M., Brown, S. N., Green, L. E., Butterworth, A., Pope, S. J., Pfeiffer, D. and Nicol, C. J. (2008) Leg disorders in broiler chickens: prevalence, risk factors and prevention. *PLoS ONE* 3 (2): e1545. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001545.

Kossaibati, M. A., Hovi, M. and Esslemont, R. J. (1998) Incidence of clinical mastitis in dairy herds in England. *Veterinary Record*, 143: 649–653.

Lee, B. C., Kim, M. K., Jang, G., Oh, H. J., Yuda, F., Kim, H. J., Shamim, M. H., Kim, J. J., Kang, S. K., Schatten, G. and Hwang, W. S. (2005) Dogs cloned from adult somatic cells. *Nature*, 436: 641.

Leech, F. B., Davies, M. E, Macrae, W. D. and Withers, F. W. (1960) *Disease, Wastage and Husbandry in the British Dairy Herd.* HMSO, London, UK.

Li, Z., Sun, X., Chen, J., Liu, X., Wisely, S. M., Zhou, Q., Renard, J. P., Leno, G. H. and Engelhardt, J. F. Cloned ferrets produced by somatic cell nuclear transfer. *Developmental Biology*, 293: 439–448.

Loi, P., Salda, L. della, Ptak, G., Modlin´ski, J. A. and Karasiewicz, J. (2004) Peri- and post-natal mortality of somatic cell clones in sheep. *Animal Science Papers and Reports*, 22 (Suppl. 1): 59-70.

McCoy, M. A., Reilly, G. A. C. and Kilpatrick, D. J. (1996) Density and breaking strength of bones of mortalities among caged layers. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 60: 185–186.

McEvoy, T. G., Alink, F. M., Moreira, V. C., Watt, R. G., Powell, K. A., Greve, T. and Callesen, H. (2006) Embryo technologies and animal health – consequences for the animal following ovum pick-up, in vitro embryo production and somatic cell nuclear transfer. *Theriogenology*, 65: 926–942.

**Merton, S.** (2009) National Statistical Data of Bovine Embryo Transfer Activity in Europe (2008). *Proceedings of the 25th Annual Meeting AETE*, Poznan, Poland, 11–12 September 2009.

MIA/DINZ (2009) *Options for the Traceability of Cloned Animals – views of the Meat Industry Association and Deer Industry New Zealand.* Letter to the New Zealand Food Safety Authority, 13 February 2009.

http://www.deernz.org/upload/notion/sectionimages/2579\_Options\_for\_the\_Traceability\_of\_Clo ned\_Animals\_-\_MIA\_and\_DINZ\_response\_February\_2009.pdf

**Mulligan, F. J.** and **Doherty, M. L.** (2008) Production diseases of the transition cow. *The Veterinary Journal*, 176: 3–9.

Noonan, G.J., Rand, J.S., Priest, J., Ainscow, J. and Blackshaw, J.K. (1994) Behavioural observations of piglets undergoing tail docking, teeth clipping and ear notching. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 39: 203–213.

Ogonuki, N., Inoue, K., Yamamoto, Y., Noguchi, Y., Tanemura, K., Suzuki, O., Nakayama, H., Doi, K., Ohtomo, Y., Satoh, M., Nishida A. and Ogura, A. (2002) Early death of mice cloned from somatic cells. *Nature Genetics*, 30: 253–254.

**Oishi, M., Gohma, H., Hashizume, K., Taniguchi, Y., Yasue, H., Takahashi, S., Yamada, T.** and **Sasaki, Y.** (2006) Early embryonic death-associated changes in genome-wide gene expression profiles in the fetal placenta of the cow carrying somatic nuclear-derived cloned embryo. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 73: 404-409.

**Oltenacu, P. A.** and **Algers, B.** (2005) Selection for increased production and the welfare of dairy cows: are new breeding goals needed? *Ambio*, 34: 311–315.

Panarace, M., Agüero, J. I., Garrote, M., Jauregui, G., Segovia, A., Cané, L., Gutiérrez, J., Marfil, M., Rigali, F., Pugliese, M., Young, S., Lagioia, J., Garnil, C., Pontes, J. E. F., Junio, J. C. E., Mower, S., Medina, M., Thompson, J., Vajta, G., Kochhar, H., Thibier, M. and Imai, H. (2007) How healthy are clones and their progeny: 5 years of field experience. *Theriogenology*, 67: 142–151.

**People's Daily** (2001) *China establishes animal cloning company*. 27 January 2001. http://english1.peopledaily.com.cn/english/200101/27/eng20010127\_61236.html

**Plume, K.** (2009) *Special Report: Welcome to the clone farm.* Reuters, 13 November 2009. <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/idUSN1278871</u>

Polejaeva, I. A., Chen, S. H., Vaught, T. D., Page, R. L., Mullins, J., Ball, S., Dai, Y., Boone, J., Walker, S., Ayares, D. .L, Colman, A. and Campbell, K. H. (2000) Cloned pigs produced by nuclear transfer from adult somatic cells. *Nature*, 407: 86–90.

**Prunier, A., Hay, M.** and **Servière, V.** (2002) [Evaluation and prevention of pain related to tooth resection, tail docking and castration in piglets]. *Journées de la Recherche Porcine en France*, 34: 257–268.

**Pryce, J. E., Veerkamp R. F., Thompson, R., Hill, W. G.** and **Simm, G.** (1997) Genetic aspects of common health disorders and measures of fertility in Holstein Friesian dairy cattle. *Animal Science*, 65: 353–360.

**Pryce, J. E., Esslemont, R. J., Thompson, R., Veerkamp, R. F., Kossaibati, M. A.** and **Simm, G.** (1998) Estimation of genetic parameters using health, fertility and production data from a management recording system for dairy cattle. *Animal Science*, 66: 577–584.

**Rand, J. S., Noonan, G. J., Priestt, J., Ainscow, J.** and **Blackshaw, J. K.** (2002) Oral administration of a 120/0 sucrose solution did not decrease behavioural indicators of distress in piglets undergoing tail docking, teeth clipping and ear notching. *Animal Welfare* 11: 395–404.

Rauw, W. M., Kanis, E., Noordhuizen-Stassen, E. N. and Grommers, F. J. (1998) Undesirable side effects of selection for high production efficiency in farm animals: a review. *Livestock Production Science*, 56: 15-33.

Rodenburg, T. B., Tuyttens, F. A. M., De Reu, K., Herman, L., Zoons, J. and Sonck, B. (2006) Welfare of laying hens in furnished cages and in non-cage systems. *Proceedings of the 40th International Congress of the ISAE*, University of Bristol, 8–12 August 2006.

Sandøe, P., Nielsen, B. L., Christensen, L. G. and Sørensen, P. (1999) Staying good while playing god - the ethics of breeding farm animals. *Animal Welfare*, 8: 313–328.

**Savory, C. J., Maros, K.** and **Rutter, S. M.** (1993) Assessment of hunger in growing broiler breeders in relation to a commercial restricted feeding programme. *Animal Welfare*, 2: 131–152.

**SCAHAW** (2000) *The welfare of chickens kept for meat production (broilers).* Report of the Scientific Committee on Animal Health and Animal Welfare, adopted 21 March 2000.

**SCAHAW** (2001) *The welfare of cattle kept for beef production.* Report of the Scientific Committee on Animal Health and Animal Welfare, adopted 25 April 2001.

Schmidt, M. (2007) Perinatal death associated with ET, IVP and cloning in cattle. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 49 (Suppl. 1): S13.

Shi, D., Lu, F., Wei, Y., Cui, K., Yang, S., Wei, J. and Liu, Q. (2007) Buffalos (*Bubalus bubalis*) cloned by nuclear transfer of somatic cells. *Biology of Reproduction*, 77: 285 291.

Shin, T., Kraemer, D., Pryor, J., Liu, L., Rugila, J., Howe, L., Buck, S., Murphy, K., Lyons, L. and Westhusin, M. (2002) A cat cloned by nuclear transplantation. *Nature*, 415: 859.

Smet, P. (2008) *EU chewing on meat from cloned animals.* Radio Netherlands Worldwide, 25 July 2008.

http://static.rnw.nl/migratie/www.radionetherlands.nl/currentaffairs/region/europe/080725eu-clone-meat-redirected

Suk, J. Bruce, A. Gertz, R. Warkup, C. Whitelaw, C. B. A. Braun, A. Oram, C. Rodríguez-Cerezo, E. and Papatryfon, I. (2007) Dolly for dinner? Assessing commercial and regulatory trends in cloned livestock. *Nature Biotechnology*, 25: 47–53.

**Thibier, M.** (2006) *Data Retrieval Committee Annual Report*. International Embryo Transfer Society.

**Thibier, M., Humblot, P., Guerin, B., Simm, G., Villanueva, B., Sinclair, K. D.** and **Townsend, S.** (2004) Role of reproductive biotechnologies: global perspective, current methods and success rates. In *Farm Animal Genetic Resources*, Edinburgh, UK, 25–27 November 2002. Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, UK, pp. 171–189.

**Tian, X. C., Kubota, C., Enright, B.** and **Yang, X.** (2003) Cloning animals by somatic cell nuclear transfer – biological factors. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*, 1: 98.

Treaty of Lisbon amending the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty establishing the European Community, signed at Lisbon, 13 December 2007 (2007/C 306/01). *Official Journal,* 306, 17/12/2007, pp. 0001–0271.

Van Tichelen, S., Choplin, G., Holder, H., Kosińska, M., Schlüter, M., Gouveia, R., Worth, M.
Wallace, H. Oxborrow, C., Madill, G., Sánchez, D., Benning, R., Jarman, B., Parkinson, S., Curtis,
S., Lesinsky, D., Semino, S., Lundgren, P., O'Meara, J. and Jackson, A. (2008) *Cloning of animals for food.* Open letter to José Manuel Barroso, President of the European Commission, 4 July 2008.

**Vajta, G.** and **Gjerris, M.** (2006) Science and technology of farm animal cloning: state of the art. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 92: 211–230.

Wakayama, T., Perry, A. C., Zuccotti, M., Johnson, K. R. and Yanagimachi R. (1998) Full-term development of mice from enucleated oocytes injected with cumulus cell nuclei. *Nature*, 394: 369–374.

Wani, N. A., Wernery, U., Hassan, F. A. H., Wernery, R. and Skidmore, J. A. (2010) Production of the first cloned camel by somatic cell nuclear transfer. *Biology of Reproduction*, 82: 373-379.

**Watanabe, S.** and **Nagai, T.** (2009) Death losses due to stillbirth, neonatal death and diseases in cloned cattle derived from somatic cell nuclear transfer and their progeny: a result of nationwide survey in Japan. *Animal Science Journal*, 80: 233–238.

**Weber, R., Keli, N., Fehr, M.** and **Horat, R.** (2007) Piglet mortality on farms using farrowing systems with or without crates. *Animal Welfare*, 16: 277–279.

Webster, A. B. (2004) Welfare implications of avian osteoporosis. *Poultry Science*, 83: 184-192.

**Webster, A. J. F.** (2000) Sustaining fitness and welfare in the dairy cow. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production*, 60: 207–213.

**Webster, J.** (2005) *Animal Welfare - limping towards Eden*. UFAW Animal Welfare Series, Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK, p. 128.

Weiss, R. (2008) USDA recommends that food from clones stay off the market. Washington Post, 16 January 2008. <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-</u> dyn/content/article/2008/01/15/AR2008011501555.html?sid=ST2008011600975

Westhusin, M. E., Shin, T., Templeton, J. W., Burghardt, R. C. and Adams, L. G. (2007) Rescuing valuable genomes by animal cloning: A case for natural disease resistance in cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85: 138–142.

Whitaker, D. A., Kelly, J. M. and Smith, S. (2000) Disposal and disease rates in 340 British dairy herds. *Veterinary Record*, 146: 363–367.

Wilkins, L. J., Brown, S. N., Zimmerman, P. H., Leeb, C. and Nicol, C. J. (2004) Investigation of palpation as a method for determining the prevalence of keel and furculum damage in laying hens. *Veterinary Record*, 155: 547–549.

Wilmut, I., Schnieke, A. E., McWhir, J., Kind, A. J. and Campbell, K. H. (1997) Viable offspring derived from fetal and adult mammalian cells. *Nature*, 385: 810-813.

Woods, G. L., White, K. L., Vanderwall, D. K., Li, G. P., Aston, K. I., Bunch, T. D., Meerdo, L. N. and Pate, B. J. (2003) A mule cloned from fetal cells by nuclear transfer. *Science*, 301: 1063.

**Zhou, Q., Renard, J. P., Le Friec, G., Brochard, V., Beaujean, N., Cherifi, Y., Fraichard, A.** and **Cozzi, J.** (2003) Generation of fertile cloned rats by regulating oocyte activation. *Science*, 302: 1179.

### GLOSSARY

Caesarean section	Birth by surgical intervention
DNA	The material which carries the genetic code of an organism
Dystocia	Abnormal or difficult delivery (birth)
Enucleation	Removal of the nucleus from a cell
Epigenetic dysregulation	Abnormal control of gene expression
Hydroallantois	Abnormal accumulation of fluid in the allantoic cavity of the placenta
Hydrops	Abnormal accumulation of fluid in the foetus, sometimes leading to spontaneous abortion
In vitro	Occurring outside of a living organism (especially in a laboratory)
In vivo	Occurring within a living organism
Genome	The entire genetic make-up of an organism
Mitochondria	Structures inside a cell that contain DNA other than the primary DNA sequence
Multiple ovulation and embryo transfer (MOET)	Procedure for the production of multiple embryos for transfer to surrogates
Nuclear	Of or relating to the nucleus
Nucleus	Structure inside a cell that contains the primary DNA sequence
Oocyte	Egg cell
Ovum pick-up (OPU)	Procedure for collecting immature eggs from the ovaries
Perinatal	Of or relating to the period around birth (in livestock generally the period 7 days before and 7 days after birth)
Somatic cell	Cell of the body other than the eggs or sperm
Surrogate	Animal carrying the embryo/foetus of another animal
Transgenic	Containing foreign DNA

# FARM ANIMAL CLONING

A report by Compassion in World Farming Written by Heather Pickett BSc (Hons) MSc 2010

**Compassion in World Farming** River Court, Mill Lane Godalming, Surrey GU7 1EZ

 TEL:
 +44 (0)1483 521 950

 EMAIL:
 compassion@ciwf.org.uk

 WEB:
 ciwf.org



Registered Charity No. 1095050